

Department of Nutrition and Food Safety World Health Organization

May 2025

WHO standard methodology to estimate SDG 2.2.3 indicator on anaemia prevalence in women 15-49 years, by pregnancy status | 2000-2023

Background document

### Contents

Acknowledgments	1
1. Introduction	1
2. Data identification, access and inclusion	2
2.1 Individual-level data	2
2.2 Data accessed as summary statistics	3
2.3 Accounting for complex survey design	3
3. Methods for adjusting haemoglobin for altitude	5
4. Bayesian hierarchical mixture model	5
5. Comparison with other studies	7
6. Strengths and limitations	8
References	9

### Acknowledgments

The World Health Organization's 2025 Edition of Anaemia estimates weredeveloped by the WHO Nutrition Food Safety Department under the leadership of Elaine Borghi, Unit Head of the Monitoring and Surveillance Unit . Individuals involved in developing the estimates were: Monica Flores Urrutia, Richard Kumapley, Lisa Rogers, Maria Nieves Garcia Casal, senior WHO statistical consultants to WHO Gretchen Stevens, Chris Paciorek, and WHO data manager consultants Andi Mariyasari and Dang Bahya-Batinda. We are grateful for the support to the estimates country consultation to Giovanna Gatica Dominguez, Caroline Dos Santos, Charlee Roberts and Ann Mizumoto. The layout and copy editing was done by Ann Mizumoto. Finally, we thank our Director Luz Maria de Regil for her leadership and support.

We are grateful to all Member States representatives who kindly answered to the WHO SDG 2.2.3 Anaemia Country Consultation. We also want to thank the WHO-UNICEF Technical Expert Advisory Group on Nutrition Monitoring (TEAM), other WHO departments, collaborating United Nations (UN) agencies, academic collaborators, and counterparts in national governments, from providing data for the Micronutrients Database in the WHO Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System (VMNIS) and from whom we benefited through their advice in the preparation of the estimates.

WHO gratefully acknowledges the financial contribution of the Gates Foundation, the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (up to January 2025) towards updating the WHO Micronutrients Database and the preparation and publication of these estimates.

Estimates, input data and analysis are available at: <a href="https://www.who.int/data/qho/">https://www.who.int/data/qho/</a>

For further information about the estimates and methods, or to obtain computer codes, please contact nfsdata@who.int

### 1. Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) Department of Nutrition and Food Safety (NFS) is currently updating country, regional and global estimates of the SDG 2.2.3 indicator on the prevalence of anaemia in women aged 15-49 years, to include up to the year 2023. The underlying methodology used to generate these estimates is the same as the first employed for the estimates published in 2011<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> with enhancements on how data using capillary puncture and HemoCue® 301 are treated, based on available data and emerging evidence. The new anaemia estimates will be published in May 2025 through the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) mechanisms, as well as WHO global reports and the Global Health Observatory. They will be used to track the progress in achieving the global nutrition target on anaemia, namely, a 50% reduction of anaemia in women of reproductive age by 2030. The estimates will also feed into the WHO Global Nutrition Targets Tracking Tool<sup>5</sup> to update countries' status and trends.

We estimated trends between 2000 and 2023 in the distributions of blood haemoglobin for women aged 15-49 years, separately by pregnancy status, in 197 countries and territories. Our analysis included five steps:

- 1. Identifying data sources on haemoglobin and anaemia;
- 2. Assessing data sources for inclusion;
- 3. Accessing and extracting necessary data and metadata;
- 4. Adjusting haemoglobin for altitude; and
- 5. Applying a statistical model to estimate trends in blood haemoglobin distributions accompanied by uncertainty intervals, for women 15-49 years, by pregnancy status.

The fitted distributions in Step 5 allowed coherent and consistent estimation of haemoglobin means and prevalences of total anaemia. We defined total anaemia based on WHO thresholds of haemoglobin published in 1989<sup>6</sup>: < 110 g/L for pregnant women, and <120 g/L for non-pregnant women. The most

recent cut-offs and adjustments to define anaemia in individuals and populations published in 2024<sup>7</sup> were not used in this round. However, work is ongoing to update the anaemia database based on these criteria with the aim of reporting further updates in the next round.

Based on the latest evidence, the use of venous blood was recommended as the gold standard for measuring haemoglobin concentrations due to its high accuracy. 6 However, thus far, national survey data based on venous blood are limited compared to capillary blood. For the current exercise, we accounted for possible higher error in haemoglobin measurements using capillary blood by taking only the mean haemoglobin concentrations because means are not affected by higher measurement errors. We used all available summary statistics or individual-level data if assessment was done using venous blood. We also allowed for suspected biased measurements by measurement method when using HemoCue® 301. These enhancements were applied considering the emerging evidence on measurement errors in haemoglobin that can influence the accuracy and precision of estimates.8,9,10

# 2. Data identification, access and inclusion

Our data search and access strategy were designed to obtain as many sources as possible while ensuring their representativeness of the national population or covered at least three areas within a country. The distribution of blood haemoglobin concentration in a population is commonly summarized as a percentage below a threshold, or a prevalence of anaemia. Mean haemoglobin and its standard deviation may also be reported. Anaemia thresholds typically vary by age, sex, and pregnancy status. Studies may also use different haemoglobin thresholds to define anaemia, and may report multiple anaemia severities, such as mild, moderate and severe anaemia.

We accessed data in two forms: 1) anonymised individual-level haemoglobin data when available, and 2) summary statistics, including mean haemoglobin and anaemia prevalences below specific thresholds. We used anaemia prevalences with any definition in our statistical model described in Section 4, which accounts for the specific thresholds used to define anaemia when using the data.

We included data sources if:

- blood haemoglobin was measured;
- the study reported anaemia and/or mean haemoglobin for women 15-49 years of age;
- a probabilistic sampling method with a defined sampling frame was used and data were representative of at least three areas within a country;
- the haemoglobin measurement method, including device and model if a HemoCue® was used after 2006, was reported;
- data were collected in or after 1995;
- data were from 194 Member States or 3 territories: Puerto Rico; Taiwan, China; State of Palestine; and
- standard, validated data collection techniques and laboratory methodologies were used.

We performed an additional screening if a facility-based sampling scheme was used to exclude data where these would not be representative of the general population. The threshold for inclusion was 80% affiliation of the target population at the facility. For women sampled from obstetric care providers, data were included if the coverage of at least one antenatal care (ANC) visit was greater than 80%. We included these data if women were selected from patient records (versus from those attending the clinic). For school-based sampling of adolescents, the completion rate of lower secondary school for girls was required to be greater than 80%.

We excluded data if migrants comprised more than 40% of the population in the country, and the data source only covered nationals. This potentially affected data from Kuwait, Qatar, United Arab Emirates, and Singapore. We excluded subnational data sources if the subnational area was selected on a variable causally related to anaemia prevalence, e.g., malaria endemicity. We manually identified and removed duplicated data accessed from more than one source. Our last dataset update was performed on 17 September 2024.

#### 2.1 Individual-level data

We obtained anonymised individual-level data of women aged 15 to 49 years from health-examination surveys and household surveys with haemoglobin measurements. In this update, we included individual level data only when haemoglobin concentrations were assessed using venous blood. We extracted the following variables from each observation: age, sex, haemoglobin concentration, pregnancy status, urban or rural residence, altitude (if available), and survey sample weight, stratum, and primary sampling unit.

Haemoglobin concentrations recorded in survey datasets that were considered biologically implausible were excluded; i.e., haemoglobin measurements that were less than 25 g/L or greater than 200 g/L. Finally, we adjusted all haemoglobin data for altitude, as described in Section 3.

### 2.2 Data accessed as summary statistics

As part of the Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System (VMNIS)<sup>11</sup>, WHO maintains a Micronutrients Database which contains mean haemoglobin concentrations, anaemia prevalence and assessment methods. Data are identified through periodic MEDLINE searches and an international network of collaborators who provide data sources not reported in routine databases. To include recent data, a search on bibliographic databases was performed. The search was limited to humans, and the following search terms were used:

(((national) AND (survey)) OR ((population) AND (prevalence))) AND ((iron status) OR (iron deficiency) OR (anemia) OR (anaemia) OR (hemoglobin) OR (haemoglobin) OR (low iron level) OR (transferrin receptor) OR (ferritin) OR (insufficient iron))

Studies are included in the WHO Micronutrients Database if they had a defined population-based sampling frame, and used a probabilistic sampling procedure. For inclusion of anaemia data into the estimates, we accessed and further screened these summary data using our exclusion criteria. Consistent with our inclusion and exclusion criteria, we *excluded* summarized data sources if:

- data were collected prior to 1995;
- we had access to the same data as individual-level records;
- non-random sampling methods were used, or sampling methods were not adequately described;
- a facility-based surveillance method was used in a country where facility utilization was lower than 80% (as described above);
- they were representative of only one or two first administrative units, or only urban or rural areas;

Bibliographic databases used to identify anaemia data sources: MEDLINE, EMBASE, Web of Science,

CINAHL, AGRICOLA, IBECS, SCIELO, LILACS, AIM

- we were unable to determine whether the data were adjusted for altitude and the data were collected in a highaltitude country;
- data for women aged 15-49 years were combined with data for children under 10 years of age without reporting summary statistics in smaller age bands;
- haemoglobin was assessed using capillary blood and mean haemoglobin concentration was not reported;
- method of analysis, including device and model if the method was HemoCue® and data were collected after 2006, was not reported; or
- the study did not have data on haemoglobin concentration or anaemia prevalence in women aged 15-49 years.

In some cases, the sample size was not reported in the WHO Micronutrients Database. In that case, we conservatively assumed a sample size of 100.

## 2.3 Accounting for complex survey design

As described in Section 4, the statistical model used individual-level data when available and used summary statistics when individual data was not available to estimate the full distribution of blood haemoglobin concentration by country and year.

All the individual-level data in the analysis came from surveys that used complex survey designs. Specifically, in designing a representative survey, the target populations were usually divided into strata based on geographical regions within the country, whether place of residence was rural or urban, and/or the socioeconomic characteristics of the place of residence; within each stratum, a number of clusters were randomly selected. Clusters may be villages, administrative units, or census units. Households or participants were then randomly sampled within each cluster. Because

(AFRO), IMEMR (EMRO), PAHO, WHOLIS, WPRIM (WPRO), IMSEAR, Native Health Research Database.

the total population may differ among strata and clusters, individuals or households in smaller units have a higher probability of being selected than those in larger units. To account for the differences in probability of being sampled, each observation is assigned a sample weight. These weights are calculated to make the survey data representative of the total population.

An implication of the sampling method is that the so-called effective sample size of the survey (ESS) is different from its actual sample size. This occurs primarily because the sampled individuals are from clusters that are representative but do not cover the entire country, and hence contain less information than they would, had they been a true random sample of the population.

To reflect the true availability of the information in each survey and in the individual level data that it provided to the statistical model, we estimated ESS based on the "estat effects" command of the Stata version 17 svy suite of commands. This command generates the design effect (DEFF), which is the ratio between the (usually smaller) ESS and the real sample size, e.g. a survey with 1000 subjects with a DEFF of 2.0 has an ESS of 500. The DEFF may differ by summary statistic metrics (mean vs. prevalence below 100 g/L vs. prevalence below 120 g/L) depending on how these indicators. and the metrics, are distributed across the strata and clusters. For each survey, we calculated the DEFF as the median of those from a range of metrics, specifically, mean haemoglobin concentration and prevalence below 90, 100, 110, 120, 130 g/L. ESS was then calculated as sample size divided by DEFF.

In our statistical model, we accounted for the difference between the real and effective sample sizes and for the difference in weights for each observation by scaling the weights across all observations in a study to sum to the ESS. These scaled weights were then used to weight the likelihood contributions from each individual. In addition, surveys may over- or

under-sample pregnant women relative to their proportion in the population. To account for this, in the statistical model for women, we scaled the weights for each individual such that the sum of the weights for pregnant women was equal to the total ESS for the study multiplied by the proportion of pregnant women in the study; we did the same for non-pregnant women. This ensured that the sum of weights across all women was equal to the ESS for the study and that the relative weighting of pregnant and non-pregnant women reflected the number of women in each category in the study.

Data sources providing only summary statistics were predominantly from surveys that used complex survey designs, but sample sizes recorded for these data sources are actual sample sizes and not the effective sample sizes. To ensure that the sample sizes used for these sources in the statistical modelling also reflected the complex survey design, we estimated ESS for each study as the actual sample size multiplied by an estimate of the DEFF. Calculating the DEFF requires individuallevel data, which by definition is not available for these data sources. We used the median DEFF from all surveys with individual-level data. We then used the estimated ESS for each study in deriving the joint normal likelihood for the summary statistics from each study.

<sup>&</sup>quot;StataCorp, 2019.

# 3. Methods for adjusting haemoglobin for altitude

Haemoglobin needs are greater for people living at high altitudes due to the lower concentration of oxygen in the atmosphere. When altitude measurements corresponding to individual-level observations were available, we adjusted haemoglobin concentrations using a formula developed by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in 1989: 12,13

 $Hb_{adjusted} = Hb_{unadjusted} + 0.32 \times (altitude \times 0.0033) - 0.22 \times (altitude \times 0.0033)^2$ 

where haemoglobin is measured in g/L and altitude is measured in meters above sea level (m.a.s.l.).

The adjustment is only applied to individuals living at altitudes over 1000 m.a.s.l. We were unable to obtain altitude information for individual subjects for some surveys with individual record data. In those cases, when the proportion of population living at altitudes above 1500 m.a.s.l. (an altitude at which there is 3 g/L effect on haemoglobin concentration) was less than 5% of total population (hereafter termed low-altitude countries), we included the source.

For data available only as summary statistics, we determined whether the data were from a low- or high- altitude country. If data were from a low-altitude country, we used the data regardless of adjustment for altitude. We used previously developed regression equations to correct unadjusted summary statistics from high-altitude countries.<sup>4</sup>

We accounted for uncertainty of this step by calculating the standard regression prediction variance, which accounts for both uncertainty in estimating the regression relationship and variability of individual values around the regression line. This variability from the effect of predicting adjusted country-level metrics was then included in the statistical modelling as an added variance in the likelihood for each summary statistic from these sources.

# 4. Bayesian hierarchical mixture model

Our aim was to estimate the complete distributions of blood haemoglobin for every country and year, which would then allow for calculating any relevant summary statistic. This approach allows making coherent inference on mean haemoglobin and on the prevalence of anaemia at all levels of severity.

To inform this update, we performed an exploratory analysis by using indicator variables for equipment types and fitted the model using the dataset from the 2019 update. <sup>14</sup> We obtained fitted coefficients of the indicator variables, which estimated a 3-6 g/L difference between HemoCue® 301 and 201+/B measurements. Hence, we decided to fit the model with an indicator variable to account for the suspected bias in HemoCue® 301 measurements and to provide more accurate trend information in the specific countries that used 301.

We accounted for possible higher measurement error in haemoglobin in capillary blood by using only the mean haemoglobin concentrations as means are less by measurement errors. We used all available summary statistics or individual-level data when assessment was done using venous blood. We also allowed for biased measurements by measurement method when using HemoCue® 301. To do so, we included an indicator variable in the model which took the value of 1 when HemoCue® 301 was used, with laboratory methods, HemoCue® 201+, or HemoCue® B as the reference methods (value of 0). We then predicted anaemia prevalence with the indicator variables set to zero, which adjusts for the estimated bias in HemoCue® 301 measurements.9,10

The statistical methods are described in detail in a previous publication. <sup>15</sup> In brief, we used a Bayesian hierarchical mixture model, which uses all available data to make estimates for each country-year. In the hierarchical model, estimates for each country-year were informed by data from that country-year itself, if available, and by data from other years for the same

country and from other countries, particularly from those in the same region with data during similar time periods. The hierarchical model informed the results to a greater degree where data are non-existent or weakly informative (i.e., have large uncertainty), and to a lesser degree in data-rich countries and regions. We modelled trends over time as a linear trend plus a smooth nonlinear trend, at the country, regional, and global levels. The estimates are also informed by covariates that help predict haemoglobin levels, including socio-demographic index<sup>16</sup>, meat supply (kcal/capita)iii, and probit of overweight prevalence<sup>17</sup>. The model included a variance term that accounted for unobserved design factors (sample design, season, haemoglobin measurement method, etc.) that lead to additional variability in the data beyond that expected due to sample size. Finally, the model accounted for the fact that subnational data and data that do not exactly cover the age ranges of interest may have larger variation than national data and data that exactly cover the age ranges of interest, respectively. We fitted the model to data from 1995 to 2023 to mitigate boundary effects but report results between 2000 and 2023, given data scarcity between 1995 and 1999.

The mixture model uses a mixture (a weightedaverage) of multiple normal ("bell-shaped") densities to estimate the full haemoglobin distributions, which may themselves be skewed. For adult women, we used two five-component mixtures, one for pregnant women and another for non-pregnant women. This approach uses all data sources – those that separate pregnant and non-pregnant women, those in which pregnant and non-pregnant women are reported together, and those in which only one group was measured - to make separate estimates by pregnancy status. The differences in haemoglobin distributions between pregnant and non-pregnant women were allowed to vary by country and year. In years and countries where separate data by pregnancy status were lacking, the difference was informed based on other sources, especially those in the same region with data in similar time periods.

iii Derived from FAO food balance sheets.

The model is specified as follows, with g an indicator differentiating pregnant and non-pregnant strata within a study:

$$egin{array}{lcl} f_{gi}(z) & = & \sum_{m=1}^{M+1} w_{mgi} \, \mathcal{N} \left( z \, | \, heta_m, \sigma_m^2 
ight) \ & w_{mgi} & = & \left\{ egin{array}{ll} \Phi(lpha_{mgi}) \prod_{u=1}^{m-1} (1 - \Phi(lpha_{ugi})) & ext{if } m \leq M \ \prod_{u=1}^{M} (1 - \Phi(lpha_{mgi})) & ext{if } m = M+1 \end{array} 
ight. \ & lpha_{mgi} & = & \delta_{mj[i]}^c + (arphi \delta^c)_{mj[i]} t_i + u_{mj[i]t_i} + eta_m x_i + a_{mi} + b_{mi} + I_{gi} (\gamma_r^c) \end{array}$$

Details on the model specifications and features are provided elsewhere 15. Briefly, equation 2 describes a finite mixture of M + 1 normal (N) distributions (or mixture components), where the weights  $(\omega)$  on the constituent normal distributions vary across studies. We specified a probit stick-breaking model for the  $\omega$ 's in equation 3. This transformation uses the standard normal cumulative distribution function  $(\Phi)$  to transform  $\alpha$ 's that range between - ∞ and  $\infty$  to  $\omega$ 's that range between 0 and 1. Specifically, the  $\alpha$ 's determine the relative weights assigned to each cluster in the following manner: starting with a 'stick' of length one,  $\Phi$  ( $\alpha 1gi$ ) is the proportion of the stick that we break off and assign to  $\omega_{1qi}$ ;  $\Phi$  ( $\alpha_{2qi}$ ) is the proportion of the remaining stick of length (1—  $\omega_{1ai}$ ) that we break off and allocate to  $\omega_{2i}$ ; and so on. Larger values of  $\alpha_{mgi}$  thus correspond to higher weights on the m<sup>th</sup> mixture component for stratum q in study i. The probit stickbreaking transformation therefore allows placing a flexible model on the  $\alpha$ 's, while ensuring that the  $\omega$ 's still add to one, in such a way that large mass in one part of the haemoglobin distribution is balanced by smaller mass in others parts, and vice versa, through exchanges among the constituent mixture components.

In equation 4,  $\alpha_{mgi}$  is defined to leverage all available information in making estimates for each country-year-stratum.  $\delta_{cmj[i]}$  is a country-by-component interaction term, determining the baseline weight placed on each of the M + 1 normal distributions in country j.  $(\phi \delta^c)_{mj[i]}$  is a country- and component-specific linear time

effect, determining the linear parts of country j's time trend. Letting T = 29 be the total number of analysis years (1995, 1996,..., 2023), the T-vector  $\mathbf{u}_{\text{mij}}$  captures smooth nonlinear change over time in country j and mixture component m.  $b_m$  is the effect of time-varying country-level covariates x (described above) in mixture component m. The a's are study-specific random effects, and the b's capture the extra variance of studies that included women under age 15 or over age 50.

This indicator multiples a country- and component-specific term,  $V^c_{mj[i]}$ , that quantifies the overall difference between pregnant and non-pregnant women, a linear time effect for the pregnant/non-pregnant difference,  $(\varphi V^c)_{mj[i]}$ , and study-specific errors,  $c_{mi}$ , in the difference. The difference in haemoglobin between pregnant and non-pregnant women was modelled as linear for simplicity and because there are insufficient data to reliably estimate more complex trends in difference.

The hierarchical prior distributions for the country-specific terms and specifications of the study-specific error terms are described in detail in Stevens et al.<sup>2</sup>, with the additional terms introduced here,  $\gamma^c_{mj[i]}$ ,  $(\phi\gamma^c)_{mj[i]}$  and  $c_{mi}$ , treated analogously to  $\delta^c_{mj}$ ,  $(\phi\delta^c)_{mj}$  and  $\alpha_{mi}$ , respectively.

For data accessed as summary statistics for which pregnant and non-pregnant women are not distinguished, we took the mixture densities for pregnant and for non-pregnant women and combined them into a (2M+2)-component mixture, weighting by the proportion of pregnant women estimated for that country-year, as described earlier.

The uncertainties of our estimates incorporated sampling error in each data source; non-sampling error of national data, e.g. because of issues in sample design and measurement; additional error associated with subnational data; uncertainty due to altitude adjustments; and uncertainty due to making estimates by country and year when data were missing altogether, when only summary statistics (vs. individual-level data) were available, or when

data were not available separately by pregnancy status.

We fitted the Bayesian model using the Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) algorithm and obtained 3,600 samples from the parameters' posterior, in turn used to obtain 3,600 posterior samples of the population haemoglobin distributions for each country-year. With each of the 3,600 sampled distributions we calculated the population haemoglobin mean and total and severe anaemia prevalences for each country-year. All reported uncertainty intervals represent the 2.5th-97.5th percentiles of these 3,600 draws.

# 5. Comparison with other studies

The results presented here represent an update of previous WHO estimates for women 15-49 years for 1995-2011<sup>18</sup>, 1995-2017<sup>19</sup> and 2000-2019<sup>3</sup> At the global level, the estimates presented here are similar to previous WHO estimates, Differences in estimates at the country or region level can be attributed to inclusion of recently published haemoglobin data, and enhancements on how data using capillary puncture and HemoCue® 301 are treated, based on available data and emerging evidence. The current estimates included 412 data sources spanning 1995-2023, while the estimates for 1995-2019 analysed 408 data sources, that included anaemia in women, spanning 1990-2019. In this round, we used the same covariates but used updated data. We used mean haemoglobin concentrations from capillary blood assessments to minimize the impact of measurement errors. For venous blood assessments, we used all available data. The model included an indicator variable for HemoCue® 301, with other methods as references. This adjustment helped predict anaemia prevalence more accurately. 9,10

### 6. Strengths and limitations

The strengths of this study include our extensive data search and rigorous criteria for inclusion of sources; intensive search for completed analytical methodologies (type of blood source and equipment and brand) for each included data source, consistent analysis by for women by pregnancy status; estimating trends by country and region; estimating the full population distributions of haemoglobin, which is consistent with epidemiological evidence on the harms of low blood haemoglobin; and systematic estimation and reporting of uncertainty. The main limitation of our analysis is that despite the extensive data search and access, there were gaps in data availability and analytical methods reporting such as type of blood source used and equipment and model. As a result, the estimates may not capture the full variation across countries and regions, tending to "shrink" towards global means when data are sparse. This may have especially affected the estimates in high-income and upper-middle-income countries, where anaemia prevalence is low and typically addressed in a clinical setting. Nevertheless, this study benefited from an active consultation with WHO member states, which resulted in identification and inclusion of many data sources and analytical methods. We aimed to address concerns in factors associated with the measurement of blood haemoglobin in household survey that could have a substantial effect on the estimated prevalence of anaemia such as different type of blood sample (e.g. venous or capillary blood), and analytical methods for measuring blood haemoglobin in household surveys. Further research is needed to determine additional factors associated with survey design, implementation or haemoglobin measurement are responsible for any systematic differences among data sources, so that global models can account for the relevant factors.

### References

<sup>1</sup> WHO. The global prevalence of anaemia in 2011. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

- <sup>2</sup> Stevens GA, Finucane MM, De-Regil LM, Paciorek CJ, Flaxman SR, Branca F, Peña-Rosas JP, Bhutta ZA, Ezzati M, Nutrition Impact Model Study Group. Global, regional, and national trends in haemoglobin concentration and prevalence of total and severe anaemia in children and pregnant and non-pregnant women for 1995–2011: a systematic analysis of population-representative data. The Lancet Global Health. 2013 Jul 1;1(1):e16-25.
- <sup>3</sup> Finucane MM, Paciorek CJ, Stevens GA, Ezzati M. Semiparametric Bayesian density estimation with disparate data sources: a meta-analysis of global childhood undernutrition. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 2015 Jul 3;110(511):889-901.
- <sup>4</sup> Stevens GA, Paciorek CJ, Flores-Urrutia MC, Borghi E, Namaste S, Wirth JP, Suchdev PS, Ezzati M, Rohner F, Flaxman SR, Rogers LM. National, regional, and global estimates of anaemia by severity in women and children for 2000-19: a pooled analysis of population-representative data. Lancet Glob Health. 2022 May;10(5):e627-39.
- <sup>5</sup> WHO Global Nutrition Targets Tracking Tool (https://www.who.int/data/nutrition/tracking-tool)
- <sup>6</sup> WHO. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity. Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2011 (WHO/NMH/NHD/MNM/11.1)

(https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/85839/WHO\_NMH\_NHD\_MNM\_11.1\_eng.pdf?sequence=22&isAllowed=y,%20pdf, accessed 27 August 2024).

<sup>7</sup> WHO. Guideline on haemoglobin cutoffs to define anaemia in individuals and populations. Geneva: World

Health Organization; 2024. Licence: CC BYNC-SA 3.0 IGO.

<sup>8</sup> Karakochuk CD, Dary O, Flores-Urrutia MC, Garcia-Casal MN, Hayashi C, Jefferds MED, Johnston R, Larson LM, Mapango C, Mazariegos Cordero DI, Moorthy D, Namaste S, Rogers LM, Saha K, Wuehler S. Emerging Evidence and Critical Issues with the Use of Single-Drop Capillary Blood for the Measurement of Hemoglobin Concentration in Population-Level Anemia Surveys. Adv Nutr. 2024 Aug 14:100290. doi:

10.1016/j.advnut.2024.100290.

<sup>9</sup> Stevens GA, Flores-Urrutia MC, Rogers LM, Paciorek CJ, Rohner F, Namaste S, Wirth JP. Associations between type of blood collection, analytical approach, mean haemoglobin and anaemia prevalence in population-based surveys: A

- systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health. 2022 Nov 23;12:04088. doi:
- 10.7189/jogh.12.04088. PMID: 36412108; PMCID: PMC9682214.
- <sup>10</sup> Whitehead RD Jr, Zhang M, Sternberg MR, Schleicher RL, Drammeh B, Mapango C, Pfeiffer CM. Effects of preanalytical factors on hemoglobin measurement: A comparison of two HemoCue® point-of-care analyzers. Clin Biochem. 2017 Jun;50(9):513-520. doi:
- 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2017.04.006. Epub 2017 Apr 12. PMID: 28412284; PMCID: PMC5685159.
- <sup>11</sup> WHO Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System (VMNIS). Available at:

https://www.who.int/teams/nutrition-and-foodsafety/databases/vitamin-and-mineral-nutritioninformation-system

- <sup>12</sup> Centers for Disease Control (CDC). CDC criteria for anemia in children and childbearing-aged women. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1989;38:400-4.
- <sup>13</sup> Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity. Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011
- (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/85839/3/WHO\_N MH\_NHD\_MNM\_11.1\_eng.pdf?ua=1, accessed 06 March 2017).
- <sup>14</sup> WHO. WHO Global Anaemia estimates, 2021 Edition. Global anaemia estimates in women of reproductive age, by pregnancy status, and in children aged 6-59 months. Geneva: World Health Organization;2021 (Available at: <a href="https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/anaemia">https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/anaemia</a> in women and children, accessed 28 August 2024)
- <sup>15</sup> Finucane MM, Paciorek CJ, Stevens GA, Ezzati M. Semiparametric Bayesian density estimation with disparate data sources: a meta-analysis of global childhood undernutrition. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 2015 Jul 3;110(511):889-901.
- <sup>16</sup> Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. Global Burden of Disease Study 2021 (GBD 2021) Socio-Demographic Index (SDI) 1950–2021. Seattle, United States of America: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), 2024.
- <sup>17</sup> NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in underweight and obesity from 1990 to 2022: a pooled analysis of 3663 population-representative studies with 222 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet. 2024 Mar 16;403(10431):1027-1050. doi: 10.1016/S0140-

6736(23)02750-2. Epub 2024 Feb 29. PMID: 38432237; PMCID: PMC7615769.

<sup>18</sup> WHO. The global prevalence of anaemia in 2011. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.

<sup>19</sup> WHO, CDC, ETH Zurich. Worldwide prevalence of anaemia 1993–2005: WHO global database on anaemia. Geneva; World Health Organization; 2008



## Checklist of information that should be included in new reports of global health estimates $% \left( 1\right) =\left( 1\right) \left( 1$

Item #	Checklist item	Reported on page #		
Object	ives and funding			
1	Define the indicator(s), populations (including age, sex, and geographic entities), and	Section 1,		
	time period(s) for which estimates were made.	page 1		
2	List the funding sources for the work.	Acknowledg		
		ments		
Data I				
For all data inputs from multiple sources that are synthesized as part of the study:				
3	Describe how the data were identified and how the data were accessed.	Section 2, page 2		
4	Specify the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Identify all ad-hoc exclusions.	Section 2, page 3		
5	Provide information on all included data sources and their main characteristics. For each data source used, report reference information or contact name/institution, population represented, data collection method, year(s) of data collection, sex and age range, diagnostic criteria or measurement method, and sample size, as relevant.	WHO Global Health Observatory and WHO anaemia estimates page		
6	Identify and describe any categories of input data that have potentially important biases	Section 3,		
	(e.g., based on characteristics listed in item 5).	page 5		
For d	ata inputs that contribute to the analysis but were not synthesized as part of the study:			
7	Describe and give sources for any other data inputs.	Sections 2-4, page 27		
For a	ll data inputs:			
8	Provide all data inputs in a file format from which data can be efficiently extracted (e.g., a spreadsheet rather than a PDF), including all relevant meta-data listed in item 5. For any data inputs that cannot be shared because of ethical or legal reasons, such as third-party ownership, provide a contact name or the name of the institution that retains the right to the data.	WHO Global Health Observatory and WHO anaemia estimates page		
Data a	nalysis			
9	Provide a conceptual overview of the data analysis method. A diagram may be helpful.	Section 4, page 5-7		
10	Provide a detailed description of all steps of the analysis, including mathematical formulae. This description should cover, as relevant, data cleaning, data pre-processing, data adjustments and weighting of data sources, and mathematical or statistical model(s).	Section 4, page 5-7		
11	Describe how candidate models were evaluated and how the final model(s) were selected.	Section 4, page 5-7		
12	Provide the results of an evaluation of model performance, if done, as well as the results of any relevant sensitivity analysis.	Section 4, page 5-7		
13	Describe methods for calculating uncertainty of the estimates. State which sources of uncertainty were, and were not, accounted for in the uncertainty analysis.	Section 4, page 5-7		
14	State how analytic or statistical source code used to generate estimates can be accessed.	Acknowledg ments		

Result	Results and Discussion				
15	Provide published estimates in a file format from which data can be efficiently extracted.	WHO Global Health Observatory			
16	Report a quantitative measure of the uncertainty of the estimates (e.g. uncertainty intervals).	WHO Global Health Observatory			
17	Interpret results in light of existing evidence. If updating a previous set of estimates, describe the reasons for changes in estimates.	Section 5, page 7			
18	Discuss limitations of the estimates. Include a discussion of any modelling assumptions or data limitations that affect interpretation of the estimates.	Section 6, page 8			

This checklist should be used in conjunction with the GATHER statement and Explanation and Elaboration document, found on gather-statement.org